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SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION
1. LICENSEE/LOCATION INSPECTED:; 2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE
St. Luke's Episcopal Hespital
P.O. Box 332027 U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Ponce, PR 00733-2027 Region [, 2100 Renalssance Blvd, Suite 100
King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 1 27
REPORY NUMBER(S) 74120 { " » Fennsylvania 18406-2713

3. DOCKET NUMBER(S) 4. LICENSE NUMBER(S) 3. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION
03010302 52-16061-01 June 18, 2012
LICENSEE:

The ingpection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they raiate to radiotion safety and to compiliance with the Nugiear
Regulatory Commissian (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditioha of your licanse, The inspection zonsisted of selective examinations of
procedurcs and reprasentative racords, interviews wath parsonnel, and observations By the inspactor. Tha inspaction findings are as foliows:

(j 1. Based on the inspoction findings, no violations were identifled.

[:I 2. Previgus violation(s) elosed,

D 3. The vieiatlon(s), specifically described to you by the inspector es non-cliad violations, are not being cited besause they wers self-
g identifiad, non-repetitive, and estrective action was or [$ being taken, and the ramaining criterls in the NRC Enforcemant Pollcy, te

exerciss dlacrelion, were satisfied.

Non-cltod violntion(s) were discussed invalving the fallowing requirament(s) and corrective action(s):

[_;I 4, During thls inspection. certain of your activilies, s deseribod below sndior attached, were In violation of NRC raquirements ang are being
¢lted in accordance wilh tha NRC Enforcement Policy. This form is 3 NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subjgct to posting in

nceordance wiih 10 CFR 18,11, (Molations and Corrective Actions)

10 CFR 20.1906(b){1) requires licensoes ta monitor the axternal surface of labslad packages for radjsactive
eontamination, 70 CFR 20.2103(a) requires licensees to maintain records showing the results of surveys

required by 10 CFR 20.1906(b).

Contrary to the above, St. Luke’s Episcopal Hospital did not routinely make a record of contamination
surveys performed during the receipt of nuclear medicine packages. Specifically, the liconsee only
dotumentad contamination gurveys whlch excecded contamination eriterla,

in respongse to the finding, the licensoe committod to making a record of all contamination surveys

performed during the raceipt of labeted packages.

Statement of Corrective Actions

1 haroby siale that, within 30 days, the sctions described by me to the Inspactor witl be laken to correct the violations identifled, This statement of
correclive actions Is made In aecordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2,201 (comective staps already taken, correative steps whish will be taken,
date whan full compliance will be achigved). | understand that no furher written reaponse to NRC will ba required, unless specifically requested.
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